M. Geg J. Palner

Pr esi dent

Vi king Gas Transm ssi on
825 Rice Street

St. Paul, M 55117

Re: CPF No. 32102

Dear M. Pal nmer:

Encl osed is the Final Order issued by the Associate Adm nistrator
for Pipeline Safety in the above-referenced case. It nmakes a
finding of violation and requires certain corrective action

applicable to future pipe repl acenents.

Your receipt of the Final Order constitutes service of that
docurment under 49 C. F.R § 190.5.

Si ncerely,

Gaendolyn M Hi I |
Pi pel i ne Conpliance Registry
Ofice of Pipeline Safety

Encl osur e

cc M. Ron West
M nnesota O fice of Pipeline Safety
175 Aurora Avenue
St. Paul, M 55103-2356
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DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATI ON
RESEARCH AND SPECI AL PROGRAMS ADM NI STRATI ON
WASHI NGTON, DC

)
In the Matter of )
)
Vi king Gas Transm ssi on, ) CPF No. 32102
)
Respondent . )
)
Fl NAL ORDER

On August 10, 1991, pursuant to 49 U S.C. § 60117, a
representative of the Mnnesota Ofice of Pipeline Safety, as
agent for the Ofice of Pipeline Safety (OPS), conducted an on-
site pipeline safety inspection of Respondent's facilities near
Perham M nnesota. As a result of the inspection, the Director,
Central Region, OPS issued to Respondent, by letter dated March
13, 1992, a Notice of Probable Violation and Proposed Conpli ance
Order (Notice). In accordance with 49 CF. R § 190.207, the
Notice proposed finding that Respondent had violated 49 C.F.R 88
192.13(b) and 192. 179 and proposed that Respondent take certain
measures to correct the alleged violations.

Respondent responded to the Notice by letter dated April 8, 1992.
Respondent contested the allegations and requested a hearing that
was held on April 27, 1993.! After the hearing, Respondent
submtted additional information on May 19 and 21, 1993.

FI NDI NG OF VI OLATI ON

The Notice alleged that Respondent had violated 49 C.F. R 88
192.13(b) and 192. 179, because it was operating a segnent of
pipeline in which it had replaced pipe wthout conplying with the
Part 192 pipeline safety regulations. Specifically, Respondent
had not installed a valve within four mles of a class 3 location
when Respondent replaced 2000 feet of pipe followng a class

| ocati on change fromclass 1 to class 3.

' An official transcript, dated April 27, 1993, was nade of
thi s hearing.
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Respondent said that it disagreed with OPS s interpretation of
the relationship between 88 192. 13(b) and 192.179. Respondent
said that it had replaced the pipe segnent in accordance with
Part 192, because the replacenent had only to conply with the
operations and mai nt enance requirenents in subparts L and M not
with the design requirenments in subpart D.

Respondent argued that OPS' s interpretation that val ve spacing
requirenents apply to a pipe replacenent is contrary to the
intent of the pipeline safety enabling statute and i npl enenting
regul ations, the scope of Part 192's subparts, and industry
practice. Respondent also argued that applying OPS s
interpretation |l eads to endl ess inconsistencies, results in
costly remedi ati on, and does not contribute to danage mtigation
or pipeline safety.

Leqgi sl ati ve and requl atory intent

Respondent mai ntai ned that a pi pe replacenent need only conply
with the operations and mai ntenance requirenents (subparts L &
M. Valve spacing requirenments woul d not apply because they are
desi gn (subpart D) requirenents not applicable to an existing

pi peline. Respondent contended that its position was supported
by the history of the gas pipeline safety statute and regul atory
st andar ds.

Respondent explained that the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act
(NGPSA) 2 i ntended that design standards not apply to a pipeline
in existence prior to gas pipeline safety regul ati ons being
adopt ed. Respondent’s pipeline existed before the gas pipeline
safety regul ations were issued in 1970. Respondent referred to
| anguage in the NGPSA that -
standards affecting the design, installation, construction,
initial inspection, and initial testing shall not be
applicable to pipeline facilities in existence on the date
such standards are adopted. NGPSA, 8 3(a)(1).

Mor eover, Respondent said OPS' s own statenents reinforced this
interpretation. Respondent explained that when the final

pi peline safety regulations inplenenting the NGPSA were published
in the Federal Register, OPS said in the Preanble that
“[e]xisting pipelines are subject to the maintenance, repair and

2 When the Notice was issued, Respondent was cited under
the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act of 1968, 49 U S.C. app. 8§
1671 et seq. In 1994, the NGPSA was repeal ed and recodified at
49 U.S.C. 8§ 60101 et seaq.
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operations requirenments.” 35 Fed. Reg. 13248; Aug. 19, 1970.

Neither the |egislative history of the pipeline safety statute
nor RSPA' s statenents when it issued the regul ations support
Respondent’s interpretation that a replacenent to a pipeline that
exi sted when the regul ati ons were i ssued need only conply with

t he operations and mai ntenance provisions in Part 192.

When t he NGPSA was passed, Congress discussed the application of
safety standards to existing pipeline facilities. H R Rep. No.
90- 1390, (1968), reprinted in 1968 U S. Code Cong. & Ad. News
3223, 3236. Congress said that standards affecting the design,
installation, construction, initial inspection, and initial
testing would not apply to pipelines existing on the date the
Secretary of Transportation issued standards.® Congress further
said -

In other words, any Federal standard |eading to inspection
and testing (other than initial inspection and testing),
extensi on, operation, replacenment, and mai ntenance nmay be
applied to existing pipe as well as new pi pe.

U. S. Code Cong. & Ad. News at 3236.

The | egislative history shows Congress did not intend to exenpt
pre-existing pipelines fromall pipeline standards. Rather,
Congress recogni zed that design and construction standards coul d
apply to changes or replacenents to existing pipelines.

In the Preanble to the final rule establishing the gas pipeline
regul ations, OPS noted industry’s concern about the retroactive
effect of the new regul ations on existing pipelines. OPS

di scussed the | anguage in the NGPSA t hat -

Standards affecting the design, installation, construction,
initial inspection, and initial testing shall not be
applicable to pipeline facilities in existence on the date
such standards are adopt ed.

As Respondent noted, OPS expl ai ned that existing pipelines would
be subject to the mai ntenance, repair, and operations

requi renents. However, OPS al so explained that it was adding 8§
192. 13 to clarify the applicability of the regulations to new and
exi sting pipelines, and to avoid confusion as to their

® The authority given to the Secretary of Transportation was
del egated to the O fice of Pipeline Safety (OPS), which has
responsibility for pipeline safety matters.
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retroactive effect. OPS said that “[w]jith respect to existing
pi pelines, all changes made after Novenber 12, 1970, nust conply
with Part 192.” 35 Fed. Reg. at 13, 251.

Thi s di scussion shows that when OPS issued the inplenenting
regul ations, OPS intended that a change to an existing pipeline,
such as a replacenent, would have to conply with all of Part 192.

Scope of Subparts

By its reading of Part 192, Respondent said the pipe replacenent
conplied with the applicable subpart. Respondent maintained that
its reading was consistent with the scope statenents of Part 192
and with the rules of regulatory construction.

Respondent explained that its understanding cane from exam ni ng
each of Part 192's subparts and their differences in scope.
Respondent mai ntained that the rules of regulatory construction
acknowl edge a subdivision wth a separate title may reflect a
difference in scope.

Respondent expl ai ned that each subpart’s | anguage sets out its
scope beginning with 8 192. 13(b), which provides the general
scope.
No person may operate a segnent of pipeline that is
repl aced, relocated or otherw se changed after Novenber 12,
1970 ... unless that replacenent, relocation or change has
been nmade in accordance with this part.

Respondent said this | anguage neans that one then has to |look to
see which subparts are inplicated.

Respondent expl ained that subparts L and M prescribe the

requi renents for operating and maintaining an existing pipeline
system Because a class |ocation change appears within the
context of mmi ntenance, Respondent argued that the context
limted the application to an existing pipeline system

Respondent further explained that the design subparts (subparts C
and D) prescribe mninmumrequirenents for design of pipe, and the
design and installation of pipeline conponents and facilities.
Respondent said neither design subpart has any statement simlar
to the statenments in L & Mthat a pipeline cannot be operated
unless it neets its requirenents. Respondent nmintained that
because these subparts state that the requirenents apply to new
pipeline facilities, they were not nmeant to apply retroactively
to existing systens.
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Respondent said that each subpart’s |anguage, when interpreted
according to the rules of regulatory construction, inplied that
t he val ve spacing requirenments in the design subpart did not
apply to its pipe replacenent. Respondent said this was further
supported by the | ack of evidence showing OPS s intent to apply
desi gn standards to the mai ntenance provisions for a class
| ocati on change.

| am not persuaded by Respondent’s narrow readi ng of the scope of
the subparts. Section 192.13 states that a person may not
operate a segnent of pipeline that is replaced, relocated, or

ot herwi se changed unl ess such activities are acconplished in
accordance wth Part 192. It does not state that a repl acenent
or other change should be made according to the applicable
subpart.

Furthernore, the design subpart is inplicated in a pipe

repl acenent. Wen there is a change in class location, 8

192. 609(b) requires that an operator eval uate the design,
construction and testing procedures followed in the original
construction and conpare those procedures with those required for
the present class location. This evaluation would have alerted
Respondent to the need to consider the val ve spacing
requirenents.

Mor eover, the narrow interpretati on Respondent urged woul d nean
that an operator would not have to use the wel ding requirenents
(subpart E) or corrosion control requirenents (subpart |) because
nei t her subpart states that a pipeline may not be operated unl ess
it conplies with the subpart. Although Respondent said wel ding
and corrosion standards were prospective (as it classified design
requi renents), Respondent admtted that it applied the welding
requi renents and corrosion protection standards. (Transcript at
78-79). |If Respondent only relied on the scope statenents it
woul d not be applying these standards to a pipe repl acenent.

Mai nt enance or Repair

Respondent mai ntai ned that a pi pe replacenent because of a change
in class location is a mai ntenance function (subpart M brought
about by an operating requirenent(subpart L). Respondent argued
that if class location changes were to affect the | ocation and
installation of valves, the block val ve requirenment should have
appeared in these subparts.

Respondent said that a change in class |ocation falls under
subpart L for operations. Respondent explained that § 192.613
refers to a change in class |location as an unusual operating and
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mai nt enance condition, and requires conpliance with 88 192.609
and 192. 611.

Respondent further explained that a pipe replacenent falls within
subpart M which covers the nai ntenance of transm ssion |ines and
the permanent field repair of inperfections and damage to

transm ssion lines. Respondent said that because § 192.611(a)(3)
called for a reduction in maxi num al | owabl e operating pressure
(MAOP), Respondent determ ned pursuant to 8§ 192.613(b), that the
exi sting segnent of pipe was in unsatisfactory condition.
Respondent further said that to repair what it considered an
unsati sfactory condition, Respondent replaced the segnment of pipe
by followng the field repair requirements of § 192.713.

A notel had been built within 100 yards of Respondent’s pipeline
changing the pipeline’s class |location. Under 8§ 192.611, a
reduction in MAOP was necessary. Rather than reduce MACOP
Respondent replaced a segnment of the pipeline. The Part 192
regul ations consider a pipeline repair to be a |eak,

i nperfection, or damage that inpairs a line’'s serviceability.(8
192.711(a)(1)). Respondent’s pipeline did not have a | eak or

m nor damage necessitating repair. Rather than reduce MAOP,
Respondent chose to repl ace pipe of 72% specified mnimnumyield
strength (SMYS) with pipe of 50% SMYS at the sane MAOP. A

repl acenent is not a repair; therefore, 8§ 192. 713 does not apply.

Section 192.613 requires a procedure for continuing surveillance
to detect changes in class location, failures, and corrosion
anong ot her unusual operating and nai ntenance conditions. This
reflects that an operator nust be alert to changing conditions
along its pipeline, not whether a particul ar design requirenent
IS necessary because of a pipe repl acenent.

As previously discussed, subpart Minplicates the design
requirenents in subpart D. Wen a class |ocation change affects
a segnent of pipeline, 8 192.609(b) requires that an operator

eval uate the design, construction and testing procedures followed
in the original construction and conpare those procedures with
those required for the present class location. Coupled with the
provision in 8§ 192.13 that a replacenent be nade in accordance
with Part 192, Respondent should have been alerted to the
necessity for evaluating the valve spacing requirenents in 8§
192.179 when it replaced the pipe segnent at issue.

ASME B31.8 Code

Respondent contended that its interpretation was consistent with
the ASME Code for Pressure Piping - Gas Transm ssion and
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Di stribution Piping Systenms, USAS B31.8-1968 edition (B31.8-1968
Code). At the hearing, Respondent’s pipeline safety technical
consul tant expl ained that he was involved in fornmulating the ASME
B31.8 requirenents and their subsequent translation into Part
192. He explained that Part 192 is based in |large part on the
B31. 8-1968 Code and that it is contrary to Code’s intent to apply
provisions to existing pipelines that were devel oped excl usively
for new pipeline systens.

The consultant said that B31.8-1968 standards for val ve spacing
are design standards and that if the B31.8 Conmttee had intended
val ve spacing requirements for new pipelines to apply when a
class location changed, it would have said so.* Moreover, as a
menber of the task group that devel oped the class |ocation change
provi sions, the consultant said this group never considered that
a class change would affect the valve | ocations on the pipeline,
whet her or not pipe was repl aced.

Respondent’s consul tant further explained that he was a nenber of
a task group that advised OPS s technical advisory group on the
gas pipeline regulations OPS had proposed. Again, he said this
task group never considered that OPS intended pipe replacenent
woul d trigger the valve spacing requirenents. Rather, he
bel i eved the group considered pi pe replacenent a nai ntenance
function that requires operators to conply with operating
requirenents.

| do not dispute Respondent’s consultant’s nenory of what the
B31.8 Commttee intended when it devel oped the industry
standards. Although the consultant admtted that the present
situation was not discussed (Transcript at 67), | do not doubt
the consultant’s assertions about the Commttee's intent.

What ever the B31.8 Conmttee intended, its intent is not rel evant
to OPS' s intent when it devel oped the regul ations. Congress saw
the need for the NGPSA because it recognized that the industry
code had shortcom ngs and that conprehensive federal pipeline
safety standards were needed to assure pipeline safety. U S. Code
Cong. & Ad. News at 3230-32. As previously discussed, Congress
did not limt OPS s authority to apply its regul atory standards
to pipeline replacenents. OPS used the B31.8-1968 industry
standard as a guide in developing the regulations. It did not
adopt the discussions and intent that went into the industry
code. OPS s intent when it devel oped the gas pipeline

* The B31.8 Code has since been revised to include
consi deration of valve spacing when pipe is replaced because of a
cl ass | ocation change.
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regul ations was that a replacenent to a pipeline conply with al
of Part 192. This intent was expressed in the Preanble to the
Part 192 regul ations OPS issued in 1970.

Val ve spaci ng

Respondent asserted that even if the valve requirenments apply to
the repl aced segnent, they should only apply to the repl aced
segnent, and not to the surrounding pipe or facilities. Thus,
Respondent would not need to install valves on the segnent it
replaced since the replaced segnent is shorter than the four-mle
spaci ng requirenent for a class 3 area.

Contrary to Respondent’s assertion, the regul ations do not
require four-mle valve spacing. Rather, 8§ 192.179(a)(2)
requires that “[e]lach point on the pipeline in a class 3 location
be within 4 mles of a valve.” Respondent replaced 2,000 feet of
pi pe. In making the replacenent, Respondent shoul d have
installed a valve within the replaced segnent. The requirenent
applied to the replaced segnent, not to the surroundi ng segnents.

| ndustry Consensus and OPS s Acqui escence

Respondent argued that industry generally believed that repair
and repl acenent standards are mai ntenance standards unrelated to
t he design standards for a new pipeline. At the hearing,
Respondent referred to two surveys: one it had made of pipeline
operators, which found that the majority of those polled agreed
wi th Respondent’s interpretation; the other, a survey |NGAA nmade,
whi ch had a simlar outconme. (Transcript at 24). Moreover,
Respondent contended that OPS s inaction in enforcing the valve
spaci ng requirenent on replacenents was an acqui escence to
Respondent’s (and industry’s) interpretation.

The surveys were done informally. Respondent did not present any
witten product. (Transcript at 27). There was al so sone overl ap
bet ween the operators Respondent and | NGAA polled. Reliable
surveys are based on scientific polling criteria and techniques.
Wt hout know ng whet her those Respondent (and | NGAA) polled were
a representative sanple of the gas pipeline industry, what
guestions were asked and how they were phrased, | amnot able to
determne if Respondent’s characterization of industry’s
under st andi ng represents industry’s consensus.

The | ack of previous enforcenent action is not an acqui escence.
A valve is not required on a pipe replacenent unless the class
| ocati on change renders the previous val ve spaci ng i nadequat e.



9
Such a situation is infrequent and difficult for enforcenent
staff to detect. Respondent even acknow edged at the hearing
that this situation may not often arise because of where an
operator operates its pipeline and the dianeter of pipe used.
(Transcript at 34).

Cost

Respondent maintained that OPS's interpretation would result in a
$42 mllion renmediation program and up to $1.6 nmillion in annual
class location change costs. Respondent estimated that cost of a
val ve at $1,500 per dianeter inch, excluding freight, |abor crew,
and ot her associated installation and procurenent costs.
Respondent stated that the cost to inplenent OPS' s interpretation
on all its pipelines would be $2 million for 200 |ocations in its
systens, and another $1.6 million annually for additional class

| ocati on changes.

| question Respondent’s estimated costs to retrofit its

pi pelines. As already noted, Respondent has acknow edged the
rarity of this type of replacenent. Moreover, in the present
case, Respondent had the opportunity to install the valve when it
shut down the pipeline to make the replacenent, and avoid
retrofit costs. It is not clear whether Respondent’s estinate
accounts for this.

Ef fect on safety

Respondent argued that OPS's interpretation is contrary to the
interests of pipeline safety and results in irrational
i nconsi stenci es.

Respondent mai ntai ned that addi ng bl ock val ves where | ocation

cl ass change occurs adds little to damage mtigation. Respondent
sai d studi es have shown that due to the i mredi acy of danage
caused by a rupture, even with automatic val ves, safety is not
significantly increased. Rather, Respondent maintained that the
nost effective method to mtigate the effects of a rupture is to
reduce the probability that a rupture will occur. By replacing
pi pe that had a hoop stress of 72% SMYS with pi pe having a hoop
stress of 50% SMYS at the same MAOP, Respondent said it |owered
the stress level and reduced the probability of a rupture.

Respondent gave exanples of what it considered inconsistent
application of the valve spacing requirenent to class |location
changes. Anong these -
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C An operator would not need to install a valve if it |owered
MAOP i nstead of replacing the pipe.

C A class |l ocation change m ght affect only one of several
paral |l el pipelines. Valve spacing would only have to be
considered for the affected |line, which would not help if
one of the other |ines ruptured.

C | f an operator had anticipated a class change and installed
stronger pipe to accommbdate the class change, val ve spacing
need not be consi dered.

C | f an operator converted its pipeline to a service not
covered by Part 192, replaced the Iine and then converted
the pipeline back to a service covered by Part 192, the
val ve spacing requirenments woul d not apply.

| agree with Respondent that valves may not be the only, or even
t he best, neans of ensuring safety. | disagree that the exanples
outlined indicate inconsistent requirenents for valves. Rather,
a mninmumlevel of protection is being provided. Part 192 sets
m ni mum st andards, which provide flexibility for an operator to
exceed to provide an enhanced | evel of safety. However, even if
there were inconsistent applications, that does not nean that OPS
shoul d not enforce conpliance with the m ni num pi peline safety
regul ati ons. Perhaps, as risk nanagenent becones part of the

pi peline safety regulations and allows even nore flexibility than
the current standards, an operator can present alternative

met hods to assure superior safety.

A val ve may not prevent an accident but it does have other safety
benefits. A valve will control an accident through nore rapid
pressure reduction and shorter blowdown tines, and it can reduce
the size of a resulting fire.

Accordingly, | find that Respondent violated 49 C F.R 8§ 192.13
and 192.179 by not installing a sectionalizing block val ve when
it replaced the 2,000-foot pipeline segnent

This finding of violation will be considered a prior offense in
any subsequent enforcenment action taken agai nst Respondent.

COVPLI ANCE ORDER

The Notice proposed a conpliance order. The Notice proposed that
Respondent install a sectionalizing block valve in the segnent it
had repl aced.
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| recognize the substantial costs to retrofit the pipeline
segnent. Thus, | will not require Respondent to retrofit any of
its pipelines with sectionalizing block valves. However,
Respondent mnust ensure that any future pipeline replacenents
conply with 49 CF. R § 192.179.°

Under 49 U. S.C. §8 60118(a), each person who engages in the
transportation of gas or who owns or operates a pipeline facility
is required to conply with the applicable safety standards

est abl i shed under chapter 601. Pursuant to the authority of 49
US C 8§ 60118(b) and 49 C.F.R 8 190.217, Respondent is hereby
ordered to take the following actions to ensure that future pipe
repl acenents conply with the pipeline safety regul ations
applicable to its operations.

1. Prepare operations and mai ntenance procedures addressing that
pi pe replacenents are to conply with the val ve spaci ng
requirenents in 49 C.F. R Part 192, subpart D.

2. Conplete the above Itemw thin 60 days follow ng recei pt of a
Final Order, unless the Central Regional Director, upon request,
grants an extension.

3. Send the conpleted procedures to the Central Regional
Director, OPS at 1100 Main Street, Room 1120, Kansas City, MO
64105.

Failure to conply with this Final Order may result in the
assessnent of civil penalties of up to $25,000 per violation per
day, or in the referral of the case for judicial enforcenent.

Under 49 C. F.R § 190.215, Respondent has a right to petition for
reconsideration of this Final Order. The petition nust be
received within 20 days of Respondent's receipt of this Final
Order and nust contain a brief statenent of the issue(s). The
filing of the petition automatically stays the paynent of any
civil penalty assessed. All other terns of the order, including
any required corrective action, shall remain in full effect

®>|1f a future replacenent requires that a valve be
installed, yet Respondent believes that it can take equival ent
steps to assure the pipeline’s integrity and the public’ s safety,
8§ 192.179 all ows Respondent to petition the Adm nistrator for
such a finding.
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unl ess the Associ ate Adm nistrator, upon request, grants a stay.

The terns and conditions of this Final Order are effective upon
receipt.

/s/ R chard B. Fel der

Ri chard B. Fel der
Associ ate Adni ni strator
for Pipeline Safety

Dat e: 05/ 01/ 98



